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THE STRAND

- Tile House Site
Original Strand Flot, 60
Present Owner Lesley H. George

Avproximstelv that of present #54
(See Fhotos #23, 31 and 32)

Original Plot = 11

The Tile house site in 1657 was a 60' x 300' plot extending
fron the Strand west to the Green. This plot belonged to ".+illiam
Maurits" - William Morris, an Englishmen from Cornsall, who had
become a Dutch citizen. Ikasurits also owned the adjoining plot to
the south (see summary of that plot, 0-10, now the south part of
the garden of #54, Read alley and part of the Read house). ¥il-
liam daurits may have owned also, the adjoining plot to the north
extending 60' to Harmony Street and 300' deep to the Green. (No
deed or other record cf ownership for this corner lot during the
Dutch period and first decade of the Duke of York period has been

found so far.)

For the Tile House site the early ownership is determined by
deeds and court records for the adjoining plot to the south, which
gave the Tile house ot as its north boundary. Following Kaurits,
however, there is no further record until 1678, when the lot is
cited in court as recently the property of "Moses Degan" (Moses
D'Gonne, a boatman), purchased from him by John Boyer. Boyer was
applying in the court for a certificate of ownérship, which weas
granted, to enable him to secure a legal deed from the governor

at New York.*

$New Castle County Court Records, Vol. I, p. 266.
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(Original Plot 11, continued)

no further record of the property has been found for the re-
meinder Of John Boyer's lifetime, but immedliatoly after his death
in 1703 or 1704, the house and | ot were bought from the two "daugh-
ters and co-heirs of John Boyer" by Joseph #ood, who at that tine
owned the house and | ot next door to the south.* The Tile house
lot had "a small house" on it at the time Boyer bought it from
D'Gonne. According to ths numerel tie bolts on the Tile house,
1687, Boyer replaced D'Gonne's small house that year by the house

later described as "a large brick dwelling'!.

Jan Harmensen, the carpenter, who lived next door (in the
house afterward in the possession of Joseph Wood), may have been
the craftsman engaged to build the Tile house; he mes a prominent
builder at the time, and appraiser of propsrty for the court, and
he mes Dutch. The Boyer family, long in the service of the Dutch
was of French origin, probab}-y Hugenot who had fled from France to

the protection of Holland. /

Alexander Boyer, the father of John, wes deputy-commissioner
for the Dutch on the Delaware River in 1648, with headquarters at
Port Nassau, near the site of Gloucester, New Jersey, He wss also

interpreter for the Dutch with the Indians, and In that capacity

came with Feter Stuyvesant, the Dutch director-general, when he

built Fort Casimir in 1651. Alexander Boyer remained at Fort Casl-

mir, until after the Swedes captured the fort in 1654. The Swedes

*No dimensions of the Tile house |ot are given in this sale but
|ater indentures show that it was 60' x 300'.
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did not like him because of his "contempt" for their sutnority,
but as he hed "e Swedish wife" lie vas offered tnhe privileges of a
Swedish colonist. He accepted, but left soon for ilanhattan, re-
turning the next year when Stuyveszant made his conguest of the

whole river from the Swedes.

Alexander Zoyer brought his femily from lanhattan - his wife
and three children, John, Josyn, and Thomas. John when he was old
enough became a soldier, his sister Josyn (Josie) married a soldier,
John Mdershall. Boyer, Marshall and two other soldiers, Robert
écott and John Cousins, sere granted jointly in 1869, a tract of
400 acres near "Christina Town" - to be cultivated and planted by

them. They sold this farm in 1675 to Justa Andries,

John Marshall, Josie Boyer's husband, died and she married
William Semple, of New Cazstle, a justice of the court. John and
Josie were among those who requested naturalization by William
Penn in 1683, Jorn had already served as sheriff under the Tuke

of York in 1680-81, and perhaps longer.

The surname of John Boyer's first wife has not been determined.
In a court case in 1680, her first name is ieitie, a familiar given

name in New Castle iné=ntures of the early Dutch-English periods.

In 1702, when Joseph Hansen, large land oaner in Red Lion Hun-
dred, conveyed to John Boyer 100 acres north of Dragon Swanp, Han-

sen made the transfer "out of the love and affection that I bear
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unto m brother-in-law es also for divers otner causes and con-

—_— e

sideracions™. The only sister of ,osecph Hansern, according to
their father's will, Wss nnn, wno may hzve buen John Boysr's sec-
ond vife. (It is possible of course that Jjohn Boyer had znother
sister bvorn lcter than the three children mentioned in the Tuteh
records of 1660, v o mizht have married Josedh mansen; or Josis
mioht have married him after her second husbeand, ~illlan e
diea in 1682.)

Alexander Eoyer had & plantation up the river a short dis-

tance above lew Cestle; he also had a lot of ground on what is
now Fourth Street just south of Delaware Strset. o mention of
him has been found after the Zngiish came in 1664, so he may have
died betneen 1660 and 15€4 or soon afterward. Property IS men-
tioned in 1667 as "formerly belonging' ti-hiu, but surviving rec-
ords are sufficient to prove that Alexander Soyer was one of the
founding settlers of iWew Castle; and also that he was a men of
ability and intezrity, judging from the positions he held during

the period of Dutch activity on the river.

In the same year, 1678, that John Eoyer bought ths Tile
house lot with the "small house!', from iioses D'Gonns, he and
D'Gonne were granted adjoining lots 60' X 200' feet on Lend Street,
now Second Street, north of Harmony. The disposition of these
lots has not yet been determined, but John 3oyer mist have sold

his in 1686 or the foilowing year, for he is taxed for tso town
lots in 1686 and for one lot in 1887 - the year of the building

of the Tile house.

=
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John Boyer's daughterls innerited along with the Tile house,
the bank lot oprocite, and this was include?. in the sale to Jo-

seph ¥ood.

Joserh Lood was a land-owner on Long Island zs early as 1873.
hen he came to the Delzware has not Seen determined; he witnessed
2 property trsnsfer at llew Castle in 1696, was in possession of
the |0t zdioining the Tile house site in 1701, 2nd that same year
acquired two plantations immecdiately north of kew Castle. In
1700, at the request of “essel alrichs the retiring sheriff, Wil-

liam Benn azpointed Joseph +ood sheriff in Zlrichs' place.

Joseph Wood must have held a large mortgage or claim sgainst
the Boyer estate, for the deeds to him convey the property for 5
pounds to bind the bargain "as also for divers other good causes

and valuable considerations.”

John Boyer had mere land in Red Lion Hundred than the 100

acres conveyed to him by his brother-in-law Joseph Hansen in 1702.
That same year John Boyer sold (to Henry Parker) 200 acres on half
of the former dwelling plantation of Joseph Hansen. This may have
been a mortgage, for in 1705, Joseph :iood, at the time he was buy-
ing the Tile house from Boyer's daughters, bought a plentation of
350 acres from Joseph Yansen in the sams general location. Thomagse-
Boyer, John's son, had re-surveyed to him that same year 100 acres
in this region. %Whether this tract had belonged to his father and

was re-surveyed because of his inheritance, has not yet been
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determined in this search, but that some of the Boyer property in
Xed Lion Hundred descended to Thomas Boyer is indicated in the
records. Some of his descendents moved to Kent County, Delaware,
and some to Maryland. Those who renained in sew Castle County
bought the sheres of those who left in the farms. No further rec-
ords of the two daughters of John Boyer have bteen found to date.
Ore was married to Faul Thomas, yeoman, of ilew Castle County. The
other to Thomas Gill-Johnson, yeoman, formerly of Yew Castle, but

at the time of the sale of the Tile house, of New Jersey.

In 1716, Joseph iiood sold the Tile house property to Ir.
Patrick Reilly, physician of New Castle, who during his lifetime
owned much valuable property in Yew Castle and had a large brick

yard near the river south of the town.

After Dr. Reilly's death and the death of his wife, who wes
executor, the Tile house property was seized by the sheriff and
sold for a eclaim against Gideon Griffith (who had married Mar-
garet, the widow of Tr. Reilly, and was administrator of what mes
left of Dr. Reilly's estate). Dr. John Finney, the highest bid-
der, bought the "large brick house" and lot in the Front Street
for 150 pounds 5 shillings. Other indentures show that this sum
did not represent the total Dr. Finney invested in the house, for
in are-sale of the property by Dr. aney to Gideon Griffith for
155 pounds, the title would not become effective until Griffith

had paid in addition = mortgage debt to John Richardson, amount not
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statec. Later, a debt of Or. Finney against Griffith in connec-

tion with this house was 200 pounds.

The property at this time had zn adjoining plot at the corner
of Second and Harmony Streets which Dr. Rellly hzd bought from #il-
lian and Rebecca Parney, the latter one of the heirs of Johanncs

DgHaes. (5ee Summary oOf Earmony and Second Street plots.)

To recover the debt of Gideon Griffith to Dr. John Finney of
200 pounds, the Tile house and ground wzs sold by the sheriff and
sold to Anthony @hitely in 1754. His widow, Abigail .hitely ac-
quired the property in 1758. She married John Fassmore, survived
him, and her executors sold the house and land to Israel Israel in
1782. From Israel it went to %William Armstrong, innkeeper, in
1796, the same year he bought the property adjoining to the south

where he kept a tavern.

¥illiam Armstrong divided the 60' Tile house plot &s he did
the adjoining 683' plot to the south, both of which extended from
the Strand to Second Street when he bought them. To 4nne Y eates
in 1803, sold the housse, "known by the name of Tile House" with
ground measuring 36' on the Strand, extending back 21' at this
width and ther narrowing for the balance of the total depth of
177'. The front width of 36' included an alley on the south side,
running back é8' to a well. The alley and the well were to be for

use in ocommon between Anne Yeates, and Daniel McArthur to whom
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Armstrong wes selling at the same time, the balance of the Tile
house plot south of the alley - 25' front by 39' deep. 4rmstrong
retained the originzl Tile house ground behind this smail front
lot, in connection with his tavern adjoining the 25" |ot on the

south.

(For the 25' lot originally belonging to the Tile house, see

end pzges of this summary.)

About the middle of the 19th century, Anne Yeates (Wooster)

and her brother John sold the Tile house to Thomas Eobinson, who
died in 1873. From the kobinson family the plot was acquired by
Lawrence Cormer who sold the same year, 1883, to Alexander B.
Cooper. Carolyn B. Rogers acquired the Tile house plot from heirs

of the Cooper family in 1909.

Lt what time and under whose ownership the Tile house began
to suffer from neglect has not been determined. 4 visitor ar-

riving at New Castle by ship in 1822 writes:

Miient ashore into the main front street, to see the house
built in 1687, after the manner of the houses in Holland, of brick
sald to have been imported from there. The bricks are very small,
yellowish, and now rough-cast with plaster. |t presents its gable
end to the front street -- the roof is remarkably deep, making two
stories in itself. The end walls are higher than the roof and have
regular steps on their upper surface above the roof. The year,
1687, is in iron letters, as clamps, on the front wail. One feels
a sentiment of veneration at seeing such vestige of antiquity.?

The house, as here described, was painted after the middle
of the century by a member of the Rogers family. The original 1is

i s fu ’ i :
now in the possession of lrs, Edmund Rogers of New Castle At some
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tine it had acquired two front doors. Kot enough information hus
been available to date regsrdinz the occupations of the owners
during the 12th century to list the commercisl purposes for which

its front rooms or part of its front aas used for years.

alexander Z. Cooper, writing in 1908 said tnat until about
1885, the house stood in its general outlines =s it had stood for
years, but was in a very delepidated condition, snd was ~ulled
down about that time, except for :its foundations &ndé about 8 feet
of its front wall. The photograph taken in the 188C's, recently
discovered by lir. Thomas Holcomb, shows the delapidated condition,
and also the arched wall which then closed in the alleyway that in

1803 led to the well at the back.

The present house, built for krs. Carolyn Rogers, after she
acquired the plot in 1909, by i¥r. Laussat Rogers, was not built
upon the exact site or foundations of the original Tile house,
the north wall of mhich had been used as a party wall by Gr. James
MeCallmont who built #56 the Strand before 1800. An alley-way was
| eft between the new Rogers house and the house formerly of Dr.
MeCallmont. The Rogers house has been remodelled, since it ass

first built, into its present fora.
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Meirthur wite, formerly on the
South g5 feet of Tile house olot

No indication has been found in the records that a dwelling
or shop ned been built on the pert of the Tile house | ot south
of that house before 1603 when :iilism irmstrong, innkeeper, hav-
ing bought the whole Tile house property now divided i%t, selling
the Tile house on a 3&' lot, to snn Yesates, and selling the re-
maining 25' by 39' deep, to Daniel licArthur. The lack of mention
does not establish the absence of a building, however, and the
price, $500, for this small 1st (with use of the Tile howe alley
and well) could have covered a building of some kind in the year
of the purchase, 1803. Three years later, 1806, Daniel iciArthur
sold the property as "house and |lot" for $1,000, to Atkinson and
Thomas Rose. Thomas bought ktkinson's share for $500, and in
1809 Thomas Rose, merchant, sold the property "beginning at the
corner of %illiem Armstrong's dwelling house and tavern" and
bounded north by the Tile house, for $2,000. The purchaser named,
"Lewis Rush" of Philadelphia, has not been found in any other in-
dentures to date, and further search will be made later. The
property is mentioned in 1824 by Dr. Jemes Cooper Sr. (who then
owned Williem irmstrong'a former "dwelling house and tavern” next
door) as having escaped the fire. #hether Dr. Cooper owned this

house also has not been discovered.

thether the house shown on the south 25' of the original Tile

house site, in the photograph taken about 1880, is the same s the
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